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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS

BRANDON JOHNSON,

Plaintiff,

V. Case No. 02:17-CV-2644-JAR
CHEROKEE COUNTY BO ARD OF COUNTY
COMMISSIONERS AND DAVID M.
GROVES,

Defendants.

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER

Plaintiff Brandon Johnson brings suit against Defendants Cherokee County Board of
County Commissioners and Sheriff David Mo@es. He asserts claims for racial
discrimination, a hostile work environment, and lieteon under Title VII. Plaintiff also brings
claims under 42 U.S.C. 88 1981 and 1983. Defesdsdk summary judgment on all claims
(Doc. 95). Plaintiff’'s Motion ttAmend the Pretrial Order is albefore the Court (Doc. 128).
For the reasons stated in maegail below, the Court deni@s part and grants in part
Defendants’ motion. In addition, the Codgnies Plaintiff's Motion to Amend.

l. Summary Judgment Standard

Summary judgment is approgte if the moving party deomstrates that there is no
genuine dispute as to any material fact and that it is ehtd@l@idgment as a matter of ldwin
applying this standard, the court views the euk and all reasonable inferences therefrom in

the light most favorable to the nonmoving pértyThere is no genuine issue of material fact

Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(a¥ee also Grynberg v. Tot&38 F.3d 1336, 1346 (10th Cir. 2008).
2City of Herriman v. BeJl590 F.3d 1176, 1181 (10th Cir. 2010).
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unless the evidence, construed in the light rfengirable to the nonmoving party, is such that a
reasonable jury could return a verdict for the nonmoving part.fact is “material” if, under
the applicable substantive law, it is “essalrtb the proper disposition of the claith.An issue
of fact is “genuine” if‘the evidence is such that a reasdagbry could return a verdict for the
non-moving party.®

The moving party initially must show the ahse of a genuine issuwd material fact and
entitlement to judgment as a matter of Ba@nce the movant has met this initial burden, the
burden shifts to the nonmoving party to “setlicspecific facts showing &t there is a genuine
issue for trial.” The nonmoving party may not simplysteipon its pleadings to satisfy its
burden® Rather, the nonmoving party must “set fapecific facts that would be admissible in
evidence in the event of trial from which gioaal trier of fact could find for the nonmovart.”
To accomplish this, the facts “must be identifizdreference to an affidavit, a deposition
transcript[,] or a specifiexhibit incorporated thereirt® The non-moving party cannot avoid
summary judgment by repeating conclusory mpig, allegations unsupported by specific facts,

or speculatiort!

3Bones v. Honeywell Int'l, Inc366 F.3d 869, 875 (10th Cir. 2004).

“Wright ex rel. Trust Co. of Kan. v. Abbott Labs., I2&89 F.3d 1226, 1231-32 (10th Cir. 2001) (citing
Adler v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc144 F.3d 664, 670 (10th Cir. 1998)).

SThomas v. Metro. Life Ins. C&31 F.3d 1153, 1160 (10th Cir. 2011) (quotikrlerson v. Liberty Lobby,
Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986)).

6Spaulding v. United Transp. Unipa79 F.3d 901, 904 (10th Cir. 2002) (citiGglotex Corp. v. Catrett
477 U.S. 317, 323-24 (1986)).

"Anderson477 U.S. at 256.
8ld.; accord Eck v. Parke, Davis & G&®256 F.3d 1013, 1017 (10th Cir. 2001).

SMitchell v. City of Moore, Okla218 F.3d 1190, 1197-98 (10th Cir. 2000) (quotidder, 144 F.3d at
671).

Adams v. Am. Guar. & Liab. Ins. C@33 F.3d 1242, 1246 (10th Cir. 2000).
Argo v. Blue Cross & Blue Shield of Kan., |52 F.3d 1193, 1199 (10th Cir. 2006) (citation omitted).



Finally, summary judgment is not a “disfaedrprocedural shortti on the contrary, it
is an important procedure “designed ‘to sedheejust, speedy and inexpve determination of
every action.”®? In responding to a motion for summary judgment, “a party cannot rest on
ignorance of facts, on speculation, or on suspiand may not escape summary judgment in the
mere hope that something will turn up at trigd.”

1 Uncontroverted Facts'

Plaintiff Brandon Johnson brings suit agaitwg Defendants: (1) the Board of County
Commissioners of Cherokee Coulitthe Board”), and (2) Sheritbavid M. Groves. Plaintiff
worked at the Cherokee County Sheriff's Deteent (“the Sheriff's Department”), but
Cherokee County, Kansas employed and paid him. Cherokee County acts by and through the
Board. Sheriff Groves was an agent, emptgyor servant of Cherokee County. Cherokee
County is an employer withithe meaning of Title VII.

Plaintiff's Initial Employment, Chai n of Command, and Pay Increase

Plaintiff is of mixed race. His ancestig/both African-American and Caucasian. On
August 17, 2012, Plaintiff applied for employmenthathe Sheriff's Department. On March 28,
2013, Sheriff Groves hired Plaintiff.

Shane Gibson is the Chief Deputy for the 8fieDepartment. Gison was Plaintiff's
direct supervisor. Gibsonperted to Sheriff Groves.

For 2015, the hourly rate for all patrol deipstwas raised to $14.00 per hour. Sheriff

Groves testified that the pay increadid not apply to all deputies thie same time but that it was

2Celotex 477 U.S. at 327 (quoting Fed. R. Civ. P. 1).
3Conaway v. Smitl853 F.2d 789, 794 (10th Cir. 1988).

The facts are uncontrovertestipulated to, or viewed in the lightost favorable to Plaintiff as the
nonmoving party.



done based on the month of hire. The fiay increase was effectuated in December 2014.
Deputy Dean Kidd began working full-time in M&tand his hourly rate increased in December
2014. Deputy Beau Hamlin began working full-timeJune, and his hourly rate increased in
March 2015 Plaintiff began working full-time in Agust at an hourly rate of $12.20. In April
2015, his hourly rate areased to $14.00.

Plaintiff's Work History

On April 1, 2013, Plaintiff began working péine as a patrol deputy. Approximately
four months later, on August 13, 2013, Shdgfbves moved Plaintiff to a full-time deputy
position.

On January 2, 2014, Plaintiff sat for the StisrDepartment Invegator Test for the
first time for an opening for a Detective positidde was not hired for this position. Dean Kidd
received it.

On February 5, 2014, Plaintiff was issued fiist written performance review. He
generally received ratings from good to verpdowith some outstanding marks. He did not
receive any below average or unsatisfactory smafkome typewritten comments included that
his “paper service completion had been below average but is recently improving;” he “had
multiple opportunities for additional work that were not sought out;” he “has a difficult time
accepting constructive criticism;” and “can seenbécexcessive in asking for equipment,
assignment changes, etc. 18.”

Plaintiff's second written performance revievas on July 1, 2014. In this review, he

received a number of good marksge very good marks, two below average marks, and a couple

SHamlin also received a pay increase in Decemb#&# 2but the evidence demonstrates that this pay
increase was due to a change in position.

18Doc. 97 at 5-6.



of outstanding marks. Plaintiff's overallauation was good. His below average marks were
for “reliability and dependability” and wonkg relationships. Sontgpewritten comments
included that he “was not wilig to work extra shifts” and that “[d]espite having interactive
skills that allow him to engage the publicarpositive way, [he] struggles with creating strong
relationships with co-workersvhich does not go towards ctieg an overall positive work
environment.?” The review noted that Plaintiff needed‘work on his relationships with other
Sheriff's Office personnel in each division” and to “recognize the importance of teamW®ork.”

Plaintiff received one formal written reprimand on September 5, 2014, based on an
incident that occurred on August 29, 2014. Cat thate, the Sheriff's Department received a
complaint about a deputy driving without due regardsafety while running with his lights and
sirens. After reviewing Plaiifits car camera video, it was camhed that Plaintiff passed two
cars on a hill in a no passing zone while ttengeover 100 miles per hour, and that there was an
oncoming car just past the crest of the hllhe camera also indicated that he entered an
intersection, at 55 miles per howrith his view obstructed. The 8hff's Office issued a written
reprimand for violating the Rules of Conduct Bgland the Agency Vehicle Driving Policy.

On October 21, 2014, Plaintiff sat a second tioreéhe Sheriff’'s Department Investigator
Test for an opening for a Detective position. Wwies not hired for this position. Beau Hamlin
received it.

On May 30, 2015, the Sheriff's Department received a complaint from the Chief of
Police of Oswego, Kansas regarding Plaint®in June 1, Sheriff Groves requested that Gibson

locate video of the May 30 incident. On botimd 1 and June 4, Gibson looked for the video on

1d. at 7-8.
18d. at 8.



Plaintiff's car camera and body camera. He fouad tine May 30 video had not been recorded.
Plaintiff had not reported anyqislems with either recording diee. Nobody asked Plaintiff
about the incident ahe missing videos.

On June 8, 2015, Sheriff Groves requested hyileha Plaintiff paticipate in a funeral
procession for a family member of the Sheriff's Department. Plaintiftateld that he did not
want to attend. Plaintiff testified that he wémiGibson, after receiving the email, to speak with
him about it. Plaintiff statethat when he said, “Hello,” son responded with, “What the fuck
do you want?” When Plaintiff asked Gibsompérticipation in the funeral procession was
mandatory, he states that Gibson respond#d Do you work patrol?” After Plaintiff
responded yes, Gibson then stated, “Go F-ing danif’ta get out of his offie. Plaintiff states
that when he turned around to leave, he savaa gb flying. He testifiedhat Gibson got in his
face and said, “Get the fuck out and go pdtr@ibson does not recall this exchange.

On June 10, 2015, Gibson located a body camera video of a car stop by Plaintiff on May
24, 2015. The stop was not fully recorded on Bféscar camera video. Neither Gibson nor
Sheriff Groves spoke to Plaifitabout this incident.

On June 21, 2015, Plaintiff was dispatched tloedt call at 1:15 p.m. Plaintiff did not
respond. At approximately 1:30 p.m., Sergeanpkiasaw Plaintiff weching YouTube videos
at the Sheriff's Department.

Gibson and Sheriff Groves spoke to each o#imut Plaintiff's termination before it
happened. On June 25, 2015, Shé&ifbves terminated PlaintiffiHe did not give Plaintiff a
specific reason for his termination kotd Plaintiff that they “coud discuss it at a later time.”
Sheriff Groves never informed Plaintiff, trgh any type of communittan, the exact reasons

for Plaintiff's termination.



Racial Incidents Before andDuring Plaintif f's Employment

During Plaintiff's employment, he workeditiv Deputy Dean Kidd. Prior to Plaintiff's
employment, Kidd was involved in a tasing ohent with Brian Kerns, another African-
American deputy employed with the &bkee County Sheriff's DepartméfitKidd was
making jokes and said something about drigkgrape kool-aid and &ag watermelon. Kerns
became irritated and told Kidd to stop or he widialse him. Kidd continued to make comments,
and Kerns dry-tased Kidd. Gibson was unaware of the tasingident until Plaintiff filed a
Charge of Discrimination.

Plaintiff testified that Kidd called him a “boydnd told him that he “needed to pick up
trash after the white folk.” In addition, Kidd pky a racist Mario CaitouTube video at work
in front of Plaintiff. In ths video, it shows a “gorilla guy ing,” and the voiceover uses the
phrase, “got you nigger.” Kidd also showed theead to Kerns several times. Kerns told Kidd
that it was not funny and was inappriage. Kidd merely laughed.

Plaintiff states that he waold by a former deputy oféhSheriff's Department that
Deputy Beau Hamlin called another employee’s bldmiy a “nigger.” Plairiff did not hear or
witness this everft Plaintiff also states that his-eeorkers would use the term “white
privilege.” He states thdite did not understand what thentemeant while he was employed
with the Sheriff's Department, but he found ouétavhat it meant. Plaintiff believes that the

term had been used during his employment in an offensive manner.

%Kerns worked with Plaintiff for approximately 20 months. Kerns worked for tiegif8s Department
between February 1, 2010d¢igh December 30, 2014, whiea resigned. He was rehired on June 23, 2015, and he
works part-time.

20A dry-tase is a less severe tase becauseahridge is removed prior to tasing.

241t is unclear whether Plaintiff learned of this incident prior to the end of his employment. nyithei
facts in the light most favorable to Plaintiff, the Court wilhstrue the incident as if it occurred and Plaintiff learned
of it prior to his termination.



Plaintiff's Discussions with Others about Work Place Issues

During Plaintiff's employment, he spokeattv Kerns about “racial jokes” and being
treated differently because of his race. PlHidthes not specifically recall when he spoke with
Kerns, but he believes that he spoke witih im the summer of 2014. Kerns never spoke to
Sheriff Groves about the raciakcidents or any of Plairffis statements to Kerns.

In 2014, Plaintiff spoke with DepyitMike Potter about problemas the office. Plaintiff
did not describe to Potter what the problems wétaintiff also spokéo Chief Investigator
Doug Wydick regarding what to do about probledmswyas having with ephoyees. Plaintiff did
not go into detail, and he gnasked in general form.

Plaintiff testified that he tried to speakth Deputy Gibson about racial discrimination
but was unsuccessful in doing so because Weegisked Gibson whether he had a moment to
speak, Gibson responded with something akiwtmat?” or “what the fuck do you want?”
Plaintiff left Gibson’s office wheme knew that his attempt failed. He cannot recall when this
attempted conversation took place.

Plaintiff testified that he complaindgd Sheriff Groves about race discrimination
sometime between December 2014 and January?20RRintiff states that he told Sheriff
Groves that Kidd had called him a “boy” and saiat the “needed to pick up trash after the white
folk.” Plaintiff also testifiedhat he told Sheriff Groves thEidd would not stop with the jokes
and had an issue with his race. In addition, Plaintiff stated that he told Sheriff Groves about the

tasing incident between Kidd and Kerns. A&peaking with Sheriff Gaves, Plaintiff does not

22Sheriff Groves testified that Plaintiff did not complain to him about racial distaimoin. Defendants
state that they admit for purposes of the summary judgment motion that Plaintiff complained to Sheriff Groves. In
addition, the facts are construed in the light most favorable to Plaintiff.



recall making any subsequent complaints oérdiscrimination to any employees of the
Sheriff's Department.

Plaintiff also spoke to a non-employee,alaaniels, about his mistreatment in the
workplace. Daniels is the Chief of Police foolumbus, Kansas. Sli#iGroves did not know
prior to June 25, 2015 (after Plaintiff's terminajahat Plaintiff had communicated information
about racial harassment to DasieSheriff Groves and Danielspwever, did speak in late 2014
or early 2015, about Kidd’s reputation for benagist and the tasingéident between Kidd and
Kerns. Daniels also spoke to Sheriff Groveewt Kidd's efforts to seek employment with the
City of Columbus because Daniels was unhappy with the manner in which Kidd attempted to
seek employment.

Similarly Situated Employees

Deputy Dean Kidd and Deputy Frank Piepbhoth of whom are Qacasian, received
multiple disciplinary measures prior to their terminations, including suspensions and numerous
written reprimands. Kidd had at least ninewlnented instances of work misconduct or written
reprimands before his termination. Piepho watten up for verbal abuse and harassment of a
female co-worker, but thatrite-up did not result in Biimmediate termination.

Events Occurring after Plaintiff’'s Termination

On December 18, 2015, Plaintiff filed a Chaaféiscrimination with both the Kansas
Human Rights Commission (“KHRC”) and the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission
(“EEOC"). Upon receipt of Plaintiff’'s chargthe Sheriff’'s Department conducted an internal
investigation into the allegations. This inveatign revealed that a tasing incident occurred
between Kidd and Kerns prior to Plaintiff's emphognt. It also revealed that Kidd displayed an

inappropriate video in front of Plaintiff. Qranuary 19, 2016, Kidd was terminated based on the



findings of the Sheriff's Department’s internalestigation that hengaged in racial
discrimination/harassmenthile at work.

Plaintiff filed this lawsuit on November 6, 201a&serting five claims. Under Count I, he
alleges a hostile work environment and discririorabased on his race under Title VII. In
Count Il, he brings a retaliatn claim under Title VII. Unde€ount Ill, he brings a racial
discrimination claim pursuant to 42 U.S.C. 8 1981 Counts IV and V, he asserts substantive
and procedural due process claims pursua8tit®883. Defendants seeummary judgment on
all claims.

lll.  Discussion

As an initial matter, Defendants contehdt the Board cannot be held liable for
Plaintiff's asserted claas. They contend that the Board merely facilitébesfunding of the
Sheriff's Department and Sh#rGroves has the sole discretiower the Sheriff's Department.
The parties agree that Sheriff Groves was gaman agent of Cherokee County and that
Cherokee County technically employed Plaintiff.

A sheriff's department acts as an agentti@ county, and the sheriff's department is an
office through which a county may &ét.To bring suit against éhcounty, Kansas law requires
that the county be sued in the nanfi¢he board of the county commission&rsAdditionally, in

a Title VII lawsuit, a plaintiff must sue his employeér.

23Blume v. Meneley83 F. Supp. 2d 1171, 1175 (D. Kan. 2003) (ciBadg of Cty. Comm’rs of Cty. of
Lincoln, Kan. v. Nielandei62 P.3d 247, 251 (Kan. 2003)).

24K.S.A. § 19-105 (stating that “[i]all suits or proceedings by or agsi a county, the name in which the
county shall sue or be sued shall be ‘The board of county commissioners of the county of _ See alyo0
Brown v. Sedgwick Cty. Sheriff's Offi&3 F. App’x 706, 707-08 (10th Cir. 2013) (citidgpkins v. Stater02
P.2d 311, 316 (1985); K.S.A. 8§ 19-105) (noting that the board of county commissioners is the appromaatdefe
for claims against the county’s sutits, including the sheriff's office).

25See42 U.S.C. 2000e-2(a)(1) (stating that an “employer” must not discriminate an indivakealso
Haynes v. Williams88 F.3d 898, 901 (10th Cir. 1996) (noting that “statutory liability is appropriately borne by
employers, not individual supervisors”).

10



In a recent Title VII lawsuit for sex discrimitian against a sheriff's office, the District
of Kansas found that the coyist board of commissioners wa proper defendant when the
plaintiff sued the county sheriff's depiament and functionally sued the coutyThe court
stated:

Because plaintiff must name his emplogera defendant in a Title VII lawsuit

and the Kansas statute directs him to sue the board of county commissioners in

any suit brought against the county, the teoncludes that gintiff properly has

named the Board . . . as a defendant in this law5uit.

Similarly, in this case, Plaintiff's suit agatrthe Board functions as one against Cherokee
County, acting through the Sheriff's Departmemhus, the Board is a proper defendant.
A. Racial Discrimination
1. Hostile Work Environment Racial Harassment

Plaintiff brings a hostile work environmeciaim based on racial harassment under Title
VII. To survive summary judgment on a hostilerlvenvironment claim, a plaintiff must show
that he was discriminated against because ahkisbership in a protected class, and that the
discrimination was “sufficiently seve or pervasive such that itexred the terms or conditions of
[his] employment and created an abusive working environni&ni’hostile work environment

must be both objectively and subjectively offengi¥d.o determine whether an environment is

hostile, courts must consider all “circumstanicesuding the frequencygf the discriminatory

26Appleby v. Bd. of Cty. Comm’rs of Douglas Cty., K&lm. 17-2101-DDC, 2018 WL 3659395, at *13 (D.
Kan. Aug. 2, 2018) (finding that the board of commissisneas the properly-namedfdedant in a suit against the
sheriff's office and stating that the Kansaatute directed the plaintiff to suetbounty in the name of the board of
the commissionerskee alsd/aughan v. Ellis Cty No. 13-2283-CM, 2014 WL 910125, at *2 (D. Kan. Mar. 10,
2014) (noting that the plaintiff had no choice but to name the board of county commisgibeerthe plaintiff
brought suit against the county sheriff and county under K.S.A. § 19-105).

2TAppleby 2018 WL 3659395, at *13 (citations omitted).
28\ledina v. Income Support Div., N,M13 F.3d 1131, 1134 (10th Cir. 2005).
29Stinnett v. Safeway, In@37 F.3d 1213, 1219 (10th Cir. 2003).

11



conduct; its severity; whether it [was] physicahlyeatening or humiliating, or a mere offensive
utterance; and whether it unreasonably interfere[d] wittraployee’s work performancé®”

In addition, a plaintiff must bable to point to “more thaa few isolated incidents of
racial enmity.® While the severity and pervasivesanquiry “is particularly unsuited for
summary judgment because it ismfeissentially a quetion of fact,® the Tenth Circuit has
affirmed summary judgments granted panidlased on the severity and pervasiveness
requiremeng® “[MJere snubs, unjust criticisms, andsdourteous conduct are not actionable; to
establish a hostile work environment, [a] ptdfrmust show that the alleged harassment is
excessive, opprobrious, and raghan casual conversatiotf.”

Defendants argue that summary judgment in their favor is warranted because there is
insufficient evidence demonstrating a steady baradgffensive racial comments. However,
the Court agrees with Plaintiff that there igemuine factual dispute ewwhether the alleged
harassment was pervasive or severe enougtetde a hostile work environment.

When considering a hostile work environmelaim, the court looks “at both specific
hostility targeting Plaintiff as welis the general work atmosphete.Here, Plaintiff directs the

Court to multiple instances of conduct that, in combination, a reasonable jury could find

30d. at 1219 (citation omitted).
3l ewis v. Standard Motor Prods., In203 F. Supp. 2d 1228, 1235 (D. Kan. 2002).
3Hernandez v. Valley View Hosp. As$84 F.3d 950, 958 (10th Cir. 2012) (citation omitted).

33See, e.gMorris v. City of Colo. Spring66 F.3d 654, 665—66 (10th Cir. 201Pjragalla v. Douglas
Cty. Sch. Dist.411 F. App’x 140, 153-54 (10th Cir. 201 Nettle v. Cent. Okla. Am. Indian Health Council, Jnc.
334 F. App’x 914, 921-26 (10th Cir. 2009).

34Stewart v. Bd. of Comm’rs for Shawnee Cty., K2b6 F. Supp. 2d 1265, 1280 (D. Kan. 2002) (citing
Garcia-Paz v. Swift Textiles, In@73 F. Supp. 547, 561-62 (D. Kan. 1995)).

35McGowan v. All Star Maintenance, In273 F.3d 917, 925 (10th Cir. 200%ge also Hernandez v.
Valley View Hosp. Ass/n684 F.3d 950, 959 (10th Cir. 2012) (notMgGowan’sholding that “comments not
directed at plaintiff, including a supervisor who called another worker the n-word, wef@ntele the evaluation of
hostile work environment claim.”).

12



constitute a hostile work enviromnt. Specifically, Plaintiff’'s co-worker, Kidd, played a racist
video game in front of him containing the wdrdgger.” The use of the term “nigger” is
particularly offensivé® Although it is unclear how oftenglgame was played in front of
Plaintiff, it is undisputed that Kidd also playgdeveral times in émt of another African-
American employee, Kerns, who told Kidd thas tiame was offensive. Additionally, Plaintiff
has presented evidence that riyidiscriminatory incidents ecurred between Kidd and Kerns;
these incidents included statements aboutegkal-aid and watermelon and Kerns tased Kidd
due to his continual and repeated comments that’d®aintiff has also directed the Court to
evidence that another deputy cdli black dog a “nigger.”

Furthermore, Plaintiff includes evidencattidd called Plaintiffa “boy” and told him
to pick up trash after the white foiR. It is unclear how many timé&dd directed racial remarks
toward Plaintiff, but Plaintiff testified that Hd's comments occurred whenever they worked
together and it was a continuingggéng thing. There is also ewdce that Gibson cursed at and
assaulted Plaintiff without provocation. Althougthostile work environment must be based on
racial animus, “facially neuttabusive conduct can support a finding of racial animus sufficient
to sustain a hostile work environment claim wheat tonduct is viewed in the context of other,

overtly racially-discriminatory conduct®

36Tademy v. Union Pac. Cog614 F.3d 1132, 1145 (10th Cir. 2007) (citing cases and noting that the use
of an unambiguous racial epithet, such as “niggeparsicularly offensive to Afdan-Americans and is indicative
of more severe harassment).

3'The evidence demonstrates that this event occuriedtprPlaintiff's employment, but it appears that the
racially-charged atmosphere continued throughout and during Plaintiff's employment.

38The Court notes that after Plaintiff's complainthe KHRC/EEOC, the Sheriff's Department performed
an investigation into the allegations and substantiatedrceaizial incidents that led to Kidd’s termination.

3*Hernandez684 F.3d at 960 (alterations omitted) (citdhea v. Yellow Tech. Servs., |85 F.3d
1093, 1097 (10th Cir. 1999)).

13



In sum, there are questions of fact as tgbverity and pervasiveness of the conduct and
these questions are generally unsuited for sampudgment determination. Thus, the Court
denies Defendants’ request fonsmary judgment on Plaintiff's hostilwork environment claim.

2. Discrete Discrimination Claims

Under Count I, Plaintiff also brgs discrete discriminationaims. Defendants argue that
four discrete discrimination claims, ocaang throughout Plaintiff’'s employment, are time
barred. These claims include: (1) a pay rdslay, (2) a failure to promote Plaintiff to
Detective, (3) a denial of equipnteand (4) a denial of training.

In Plaintiff's response, he asserts thatddelants do not specifically assert summary
judgment on his racial discrimination claim. lip&ars Plaintiff is referring to the fact that
Defendants do not discuss Plaintiff’'s termination as a discrete discrimination claim. He is
correct. Thus, the Court will not address Plaintiff's discriminatory termination claim, and
Defendants are not entitled to sumgnpudgment on this discrete claim.

Defendants do, however, request summary jugtgron Plaintiff’'s four other discrete
discrimination claims, noted abav@laintiff fails to specifially address the substance of
Defendants’ argument. Instead, Plaintiff simplyesahat these instancae part and parcel of
his hostile work environment claim. To the extdwat Plaintiff brings thesincidents as part of
his hostile work environment claim, the infoation can be considered for that purptise.

To the extent Plaintiff brings these as disemiscrimination claimsa plaintiff alleging a

violation of Title VII must filean administrative charge withe EEOC within 300 days of the

4%Defendants appear to concede this point, as well.

14



challenged actioft Where a plaintiff pursues multiple claims based on discrete discriminatory
acts, the limitations period will begin to run feach individual act from the date on which the
underlying act occur& The timely filing of an administraté/charge is akin to a statute of
limitations, and a claim is barred if it is not filed within those time lihit®laintiff fails to
respond to Defendants’ argument on this point,,thadails to substantively demonstrate that
any of the discrete incidents fell withihe 300 days of filing his EECO charfeAccordingly,
Defendants are entitled to summarggment on these four diste discrimination claims.

B. Retaliation (Count II)

1. Retaliation on the Basis of Race

Plaintiff's second claim is for retaliationhe plaintiff bears the ultimate burden of
proving that his employer intentially discriminated against hifd,out may do so “through
either direct evidence or circumstantial ende that creates an inference of intentional
discrimination.*® Where the plaintiff seeks toeisircumstantial evidence to show
discriminatory intent, as here, the court lggpthe burden-shifting framework established in
McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Greéh Under that framework, thgaintiff must establish a

prima facie case of retaliation bgmonstrating: (1) that hegaged in protected opposition to

#1See Davidson v. Am. Online, In837 F.3d 1179, 1183 (10th Cir. 200Bulcher v. City of WichitaNo.
06-2095-EFM, 2009 WL 6832587, at *2 (D. Kan. Sept. 109 @"In a deferral state sh as Kansas, a Title VII
claimant must file his discrimination charge within 300 days of the alleged act.”).

“Nat’l R.R. Passenger Corp. v. Morgés86 U.S. 101, 115 (2002).
43d. at 109.

4In this case, Plaintiff filed his KHRC charge December 18, 2015. For a discrete discriminatory
incident to be timely, it must have occurred within the previous 300 days of filing the charge.

4Bennett v. Windstream Commc'ns,.|ri®92 F.3d 1261, 1266 (10th Cir. 2015) (citRiger v. QEP
Energy 776 F.3d 1191, 1199 (10th Cir. 2018gamson v. Multi Cmty. Diversified Servs.,.Jriid4 F.3d 1136,
1145 (10th Cir. 2008)).

4Bennett 792 F.3d at 1266 (citingiser, 776 F.3d at 1199).

47411 U.S. 792 (1973C.T. v. Liberal Sch. Dist562 F. Supp. 2d 1324, 1336 (D. Kan. 2008) (citing
Somoza v. Univ. of Denyeil3 F.3d 1206, 1211 (10th Cir. 2008)).

15



discrimination; (2) that a reasable person would have foune tthallenged action materially
adverse; and (3) that there is a causahection between the peated activity and the
materially adverse actid§. The plaintiff's burden of estaibhing a prima facie case is “not
onerous.*

If the plaintiff establishes a prima facie cabee burden shifts to the employer to offer a
legitimate non-retaliatory reasorrfihe adverse employment acti$nif the employer is able to
offer a legitimate non-retaliatory reason, the burdeftsshack to the plaintiff to show that the
employer’s stated reason is a pretext for discrimin&fioiA plaintiff demonstrates pretext by
showing that the employer’s profferegplanation is unworthy of credenc®.™[A] plaintiff's
prima facie case, combined with sufficientdmnce to find that the employer’s asserted
justification is false, may permit the trierfaict to conclude that the employer unlawfully
discriminated.?® Despite the shifting framework, tidtimate burden of persuasion remains
with the plaintiff>4

a. Prima Facie Case
The elements of a prima facie case forlratian are: (1) themployee engaged in

protected opposition to discrimation, (2) the employee sufferad adverse action during or

46C.T, 562 F. Supp. 2d at 1336 (citiSpmoza513 F.3d at 1212).

4Tex. Dep’t of Cmty. Affairs v. Burding50 U.S. 248, 253 (198T)abor v. Hilti, Inc, 703 F.3d 1206,
1216 (10th Cir. 2013) (citin@rr v. City of Albuquerquet17 F.3d 1144, 1149 (10th Cir. 2005)).

50McDonnell Douglas411 U.S. at 802.
54d. at 804.

52Berry v. Mission Group Kan., Inc463 F. App’x 759, 766 (10th Cir. 2012) (quotikaramillo v. Colo.
Judicial Dep't, 427 F.3d 1303, 1309 (10th Cir. 2005)).

53Bennett v. Windstream Commc'ns,.|ri®92 F.3d 1261, 1266-67 (10th Cir. 2015) (quoRegves v.
Sanderson Plumbing Prods., In630 U.S. 133, 148 (2000)).

SRichardson v. Blue Cross/Blue Shield of Kan.,, 1886 F. Supp. 2d 1174, 1181 (D. Kan. 2002) (citations
omitted).
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after the protected opposition treateasonable employee wouldrbdound materially adverse,
and (3) a causal connection dgibetween the protexd activity and thenaterially adverse
action® Defendants argue that Plaintiff cannot shbat he engaged in protected opposition to
discrimination or show a causal connentbetween any protext opposition and his
termination.

The Court first addresses whether Riffiengaged in protected opposition to
discrimination. “Although no magic words areuired, to qualify as protected opposition the
employee must convey to the employer his ordo@cern that the employer has engaged in a
practice made unlawful by [Title VII]?® “Protected opposition caange from filing formal
charges to voicing informal complaints to superviséfs‘A vague reference to discrimination
and harassment without any indication thé thisconduct was motivated by [race] does not
constitute protected activity andliviot support a retaliation claint®

Plaintiff argues that he engaged in proteapgosition when: (1) he spoke with Sheriff
Groves about racial harassment in December 2014 or January 2015; (2) he further complained to
Sheriff Groves about Kidd’s hak behavior after Kidd failed tget the part-time job at the
Columbus Police Departmettand (3) he attempted to complain about a June 11 incident

between him and GibsdhA.

5*Hinds v. Sprint/United Mgmt. C623 F.3d 1187, 1202 (10th Cir. 2008)¢Gowan v. City of Eufala
472 F.3d 736, 741 (10th Cir. 2006).

56Hinds, 523 F.3d at 1203.
SHertz v. Luzenac Am., In&70 F.3d 1014, 1015 (10th Cir. 2004).
58Hinds, 523 F.3d at 1203, n. 13 (bracket and citation omitted)

59Plaintiff provides no timeframe as to when he madedtatement. However, viewing the evidence in the
light most favorable to Plaintiff, hCourt will accept this contention.

50Plaintiff states that Defendants do not contesthiatngaged in protected opposition to discrimination.
The record demonstrates otherwise. Defendants argbeiinmotion that Plaintiff relied on six instances of
protected opposition in his deposition, and with the exception of one, they do not constitute protected opposition.
These include: (1) when Plaintiff spoteeKerns about racial discrimination; (2) when Plaintiff tried to speak to
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Plaintiff's third contention cannot be coneréd protected opposition to discrimination.
First, Plaintiff did not actually repognything because he states thaattemptedo report an
incident regarding Gibson to Sheriff Grovda.addition, there is no evidence that Gibson’s
actions related to Plaintiff’'s race or that Pldintiade any mention of cial issues to Sheriff
Groves about Gibson. Thus, Plaintiff's attemptegort to Sheriff Grovesannot be considered
protected opposition to racialsgrimination. Plaintiff's firsand second contentions, however,
are considered protected opposition to discrimination.

Plaintiff was terminated anthus he suffered an adveesmployment action. Defendants
argue, however, that Plaintiff gaot establish a causal connentbetween any protected activity
and his termination. An employee claimingat@tion must demonstrate a causal connection
between the protected activijpd the adverse action. Thentte Circuit has found a causal
connection exists between an employee’s pteteactivity and a materially adverse action
“where the plaintiff presents evidence of cir@iances that justify an inference of retaliatory
motive.”®! Courts typically consider “protectednduct closely followed by adverse action” as
sufficient evidenc&® However, when enough time elapses between the protected conduct and
the adverse action, a court regsif‘additional evidence beyond temporal proximity to establish

causation.®® When analyzing the additional evidenceurts can consider all the proffered

Gibson; (3) when Plaintiff spoke with Potter about woakgl issues; (4) when Plaintiff spoke to Wydick about
problems at work; (5) when Plaintiff spoke with Sheriff Groves in late 2014 or early 2015; and (6) when Plaintiff
spoke with Daniels, a non-employee ab@cial issues. With the exception of the conversation between Plaintiff

and Sheriff Groves, Plaintiff fails taddress any of these instances in his response and instead relies upon the three
instances identified above. Thus, theu@ finds that Plaintiff concedes tHaefendants’ referenced incidents are

not considered protected opposition to discrimination.

Swilliams v. W.D. Sports, N.M., Inel97 F.3d 1079, 1091 (10th Cir. 2007).
62d.

53Anderson v. Coors Brewing Gd.81 F.3d 1171, 1179 (10th Cir. 1998¢g e.g., Haynes v. Level 3
Commc'ns, LLC456 F.3d 1215, 1228 (10th Cir. 2006) (holding one and one-half months éstslsksisation
while three months is too long and does not).
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evidence of retaliatory motiveyhich includes pretext evidené& Although pretext evidence “is
typically considered dumg the third phase of thdcDonnell Douglasnquiry,” courts can also
consider it “in the prima facie stage of a retaliation claim.”

In this case, Plaintiff's pretted activity of speaking ®heriff Groves in December 2014
or January 2015 occurred approximately fivaitomonths prior to his termination on June 25,
2015% Thus, the timing is insufficieb demonstrate a causal connecfibrRlaintiff must
point the Court to additional @&ence that would support tigference that Plaintiff was
terminated due to his complairgbout racial discrimination.

Plaintiff asserts that the inference of retalig discharge is justified because there is
evidence that Defendants’ proffered reasarhfe termination—poor work performance—is
pretextual. Plaintiff directs the Court to evidené¢similarly situated idividuals, both of whom
are white, that received far more poor perfanogareviews and written reprimands. It is
uncontroverted that both Kidd and Piepho reedimultiple disciplinary measures, including
suspensions and numerous written reprimands, faritreir eventual terminations. Kidd had at
least nine documented instances of work misconduct or written reprimands. Piepho also had
multiple reprimands and was written up for verbal abuse and harassment of a female co-worker
that did not result in his teiimation. Although both individuals we ultimately terminated like

Plaintiff, they experienced strikg differences prior to their tern@tion compared to Plaintiff.

64Xia v. Salazar503 F. App’x 577, 580 (10th Cir. 2012) (citidgnderson181 F.3d at 1179).

85Proctor v. United States Parcel Sew02 F. 3d 1200, 1209 (10th Cir. 200BEEOC v. PVNF, L.L.G 487
F.3d 790, 800 n.5 (10th Cir. 2007).

56Plaintiff asserts that the instance in which he attethpp complain to Sheriff Groves about Gibson’s
behavior occurred only 14 days prior to his termination. The Court, howeveqQusivietermined that this
instance is not protected opposition aecial discrimination as Plaintiff didot speak to Sheriff Groves about any
racial discrimination, or anything related to Gibson’s behavior, at that time.

5’See Proctar502 F.3d at 1208 (noting that “[flour months is too large a time gap to establish a causal
connection.”) (citations omitted).
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Specifically, Kidd and Piepho’s conduct was toleddta longer than Plaintiff's, although they
showed a greater degree of poor performaawe they received numerous written reprimands
and warnings. This raises a question of fad¢bashy Plaintiff, who is African-American and
complained of racial issues, was not simildrgated. Thus, through Plaintiff's evidence of
pretext, Plaintiff meets his bundef establishing a causal contien in his prima facie case of
retaliation.
b. Legitimate Reasonfor Plaintiff’'s Termination

Defendants’ proffered reason for termingtiPlaintiff for poor work performance has
support in the record. His baperformance reviews in 2014 included several below average
marks regarding reliability, dependability, and wmigjness to work extra events. In addition, in
the month preceding his termination, Sherifb@s received a complaint from another law
enforcement agency regarding Plaintiff. Approaiely one week after this complaint, Sheriff
Groves requested that Plaintiffrpaipate in a funeral processi of a family member of the
Sheriff's Department, and Plaiffitstated that he did not wato do it. Furthermore,
approximately two weeks later, Plaintiff failemlrespond to a theft call on June 21, 2015. These
are valid, non-retaliatory reasofts Plaintiff's termination.

C. Pretext

Plaintiff contends that Defelants’ reason of poor performance is pretextual because
Sheriff Groves did not give him a reason for his faation, generally failetb confront Plaintiff
about his alleged work deficieles, and tolerated poor work performance from other white
employees. It is undisputed that Sheriff Grovesmdit give Plaintiff a reason for his termination
and never subsequently informed Plaintiff cf teason. Here, in this litigation, Sheriff Groves

asserts that Plaintiff's terminatiavas due to poor performance.
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In addition, it is undisputed that Sheriff @es did not address Plaintiff’'s performance
issues with Plaintiff prior tdiis termination. There were seakincidents occurring the month
prior to Plaintiff's termination that were thedisifor Plaintiff's termination, but these issues
were not addressed with Plaffiitr brought to his attention. laddition, no written reprimands
or warnings were issued ftrese incidents. Although Piiiff's reviews included several
“below average” marks and certgerformance issues were adt his last review occurred
approximately one year prior to his termioati In addition, his pesfmance reviews were
overall good. Furthermore, Plaintiff's onlyritten reprimand occurred in September 2014,
approximately nine months prior to Plaintifftermination. Thus, it appears from October 2014
through June 25, 2015, there were no apparent paafare issues brought to Plaintiff's attention
or documented in a written performance review, reprimand, or wafhing.

In addition, as noted and dissed above, Plaintiff presentsdance of similarly situated
individuals who were treated differenfly. These individuals received numerous written
warnings and reprimands prior to their terminasio Viewing all this edence together, and in
the light most favorable to PIdiff, the Court concludes thereasgenuine issue of fact as to
whether Defendants’ stated reason for tertimmavas legitimate or pretext for retaliation
against Plaintiff due to his complaints of mdaliscrimination. Accorndgly, Defendants’ motion
for summary judgment on Plaifits claim for retaliation baskon a complaint of racial
discrimination is denied.

2. Retaliation on Basis oiVorkers Compensation Claim

88Defendants include evidence of an incident in Nalver 2014 where Plaintiffalked out of a meeting
and that Sheriff Groves viewed this act as insubordinatitowever, Sheriff Groves was not present at the meeting,
and there is no evidence that anybody spoke totPlaihout this incident or that it was documented as
problematic.

5%0ne of the individuals is Kidd, who is the individual responsible for the majority of the racial
discriminatory behavior.
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Defendants argue that, teetextent Plaintiff attempt® bring a claim for workers
compensation retaliation, he fails to do so. rRifiifails to substantiely address Defendants’
contention. Plaintiff simly states in a footnote that hesdgrees with Defendants’ contention by
stating that Defendants discrimied against him on the basis of race after he decided to pursue
a worker’s compensation claim. Thus, the Cguaints summary judgment in Defendants’ favor
as to any workers’ compensation retaliation claim.

C. Section 1981 Racial Discrimination Claim (Count IlI)

For Plaintiff's third claim, hestates that Defendants diseinated against and harassed
him on the basis of his race in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1981. Defendants argue that Plaintiff's
claim is barred by the statute of limitations. addition, Defendantsssert, that summary
judgment is proper on Plaintiff's § 1981 claim besatlaintiff failed to allege a violation by
and through § 1983. Defendants raifdaintiff's failure to propdy allege his § 1981 claim in
their reply brief. Thus, the Court issuedaader, pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(f), allowing
Plaintiff time to file a sur-reply to address this contentfon.

Plaintiff filed a sur-reply and a Motion to Amend Pretrial Order. In Plaintiff's sur-reply,
he acknowledges that his § 1981 claim needetbrought through § 1983. He argues, however,
that Defendants had sufficient notice of his clanthe Complaint and Pretrial Order. In his
Motion to Amend, he seeks the Court’s permissecoamend the Pretrial Order to assert his §
1981 claim by and through § 1983.

1. Statute of Limitations

“Doc. 126.
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A § 1981 claim based on post-contract forimaiis governed by the four-year statute of
limitations contained in 28 U.S.C. § 1658Section 1981, however, by itself “does not provide
a vehicle for remedying racial discrimination antaliation in cases broughgainst state actors.
Rather, “8§ 1983 ‘provides the exclusive fedefanages remedy for the violation of the rights
guaranteed by § 1981 when the clairprisssed against a state actdf.’Thus, when bringing a
§ 1981 claim against a governmental entity, isthe brought by and through § 1983 and is
governed by a four-year statuteliofitations. The question nois whether Plaintiff should be
allowed to amend his claiand bring it pursuant to § 1983.

2. Amendment of Pretrial Order

Plaintiff categorized his clai in his Complaint and in éhPretrial Order as one under
§ 1981. He did not reference 8 1983 with regarthioclaim. Plaintiff has now filed a Motion
to Amend Pretrial Orde? He seeks the Court’s permissioratoend the Pretrial Order to assert
this claim by and through § 1983. He contends thanifest injustice will result because the
Court will likely grant summary judgnmé against him on his § 1981 claim.

Defendants assert that there witit be manifest injustice Rlaintiff is not allowed to

amend. Instead, Defendants contend that theybwipirejudiced if the Court allows it. They

Jones v. R.R. Donnelly & Sqrstl U.S. 369, 382 (2004) (noting that a cause of action that arose under
an Act of Congress enacted subsequent to Decemb®8Q,would be governed by the four-year statute of
limitations in 28 U.S.C. § 1658). Bmndants originally argued that a twear statute of limitations governed
Plaintiff's claim. In Defendats’ reply, they contend that even if aifeyear statute of limitations is applicable,
Plaintiff's claim is still barred because failed to plead it through § 1983.

Hannah v. Cowlishay628 F. App’x 629, 632 (10th Cir. 2016) (quotideft v. Dallas Indep. Sch. Dist.
491 U.S. 701, 735 (1989)) (citation omitted). The District of Kansas also previously found that a § 1981 claim
based on post-contract formation, brought through § 1983, against a municipality is subject to a four-year statute of
limitations. Robinson v. City of Ark. City, Kar896 F. Supp. 2d 1020, 1041 (D. Kan. 2012).

Doc. 128. The Court expedited briefing on this motion. Defendants filed a resporRiittiff did not
file a reply although allowed to do so.
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contend that Plaintiff has definitively known thie issue since before the Pretrial Order was
entered and Plaintiffsequest is untimely.

The Court may modify a final pretrial ond@nly to prevent manifest injusticé® The
party moving to modify the pre#td order bears the burden of damstrating the applicability of
manifest injusticé€® Courts look to the following factsito determine whether to amend or
modify a pretrial order:(1) prejudice or surprise to the gyaopposing trial othe issue; (2) the
ability of that party to curery prejudice; (3) disruption to therderly and efficient trial of the
case by inclusion of the new issue; (4) bad faiththe party seeking to modify the ordét.”

With respect to these elements, the Céinds that they do not weigh in favor of
amending the Pretrial Order. Riaff states that that it isnclear how § 1981 claims should be
pled. The Court disagrees. The requirentiesit § 1981 claims be pled through § 1983 against
state actors is not new. Indeed, it has beefrathén this circuit for approximately fourteen
years!’ Approximately eight years ago, the DistiiétKansas also recognized this proposifion.

In this case, Plaintiff nde no attempt to allege a § 1981 claim, by and through 8§ 1983,
until this Court’s Order requiring a sur-reply tofBiedants’ argument in their reply brief that
Plaintiff did not allege a § 1981asin properly. Plaintf asserts that he could not have filed a
sur-reply, but he could have requested leave teodand did not until énCourt requested a sur-

reply. Moreover, he had the chance to allédgeclaim properly in the Pretrial Order as the

"Fed. R. Civ. P. 16(ejccordD. Kan. Rule 16.2(b) (recognizing that the final pretrial order “will control
the subsequent course of the action unless modified by consent of the parties and court, or bp&thetmirt to
prevent manifest injustice.”).

"*Koch v. Koch Indus., Inc203 F.3d 1202, 1222 (10th Cir. 2000).
d.

""See Brown v. Keystone Learning Ser2620 WL 633213, at *8 (10th Cir. 2020) (noting the holding in
Bolden v. City of Topeka, Karl41 F.3d 1129, 1136-37 (10th Cir. 2006) that “§ 1983 is the ‘exclusive federal
remedy’ for § 1981 actiormgainst state actors.”).

78Robinson v. City of Ark. City, Kar896 F. Supp. 2d 1020, 1041-42 (D. Kan. 2012).
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Pretrial Order was entered approximately one maifter Defendants’ replwas filed. Plaintiff
made no effort to assert his § 1981 clainotiygh § 1983 at that time even though the parties
engaged in an almost month-long exchange@Pitetrial Order. The parties submitted three
proposed Pretrial Orders tadhe Birzer and had two phone cerg@nces. In every proposed
Pretrial Order, Defendants asserthe defense that Plaintiffited to allege his § 1981 claim by
and through 8§ 1983. The final Pretrial Ordexs entered on November 27, 2019. Over three
months later, Plaintiff now seeks pession to amend. Plaintiff does not proceed seand
controlling precedent has existed for over a dechdt requires a § 1981 claim to be brought
through § 1983° This factor does not support andment to the Pretrial Order.

In addition, Plaintiff contendthat Defendants have been on notice of his claim due to his
allegations in his subsequent claims (Couivitand V) for procélural due process and
substantive due process violatiort$e states that his Complaintorporated by reference all of
his preceding allegations. In addition, he asgbashis claims (Counts \&nd V) in the Pretrial
Order explicitly state that they are broughtler § 1983 for the purpose of enforcing rights

guaranteed to Plaintiff under 8 1981. Defendardagtee that they have been on notice.

®See als®rown v. Keystone Learning Serv2018 WL 6042592, at *9-10 (D. Kan. Nov. 19, 2018). In
Brown the defendant asserted on summary judgment that the plaintiff failed to allege his &@8hrough §

1983. 1d. at*9. In response, the plaintiff stated that thishnicality did not warrant dismissal and he should be
allowed to amend the pretrial orddd. This Court found that the plaintiff failed to address the manifest injustice
factors, the plaintiff was not pro #gldenhad been controlling precedent formadéhan a decade, and the plaintiff
could not show good cause for his counsel’s failure to properly plead the tdhiat.*10. Thus, the Court did not
allow the plaintiff to amend the pretrial orded.

The Court recognizes that the Tenth CircuiBoidenfound that the district court applied the law with “too
heavy a hand,” and the § 1981 claim could have escaped dismissal but for the technicality for pleading it through §
1983. Bolden 441 F.3d at 1334. The Court finds the cirstamces in this case entirely different from the
circumstances iBolden TheBoldendecision was issued ajpimately fourteen years ago, Plaintiff does not
proceed pro se, and Plaintiff did not attempt to asse®§ k981 claim through § 1983 until two weeks ago although
his case was filed in 2017. Furthermore,Bnewndecision, addressing issues very similar to this case, was issued
approximately one year prior to the parties’ briefing in this case.
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The Court notes that there is a difiere between claims brought under § 1983 and a
81981 racial discrimination claim brought by antbtigh § 1983. Although Pliff states that
he is bringing his § 1983 substantive @ndcedural due process claims through § 1981,
substantive and procedural due process clamasot required to be brought through § 1981.
Thus, the fact that he pled these claimthmPretrial Order by and through § 1981 does not
indicate that he interdl to plead his stated § 1981 piah the same manner. Indeed, it
demonstrates otherwise, andf@@lants were not on notice.

Plaintiff also contends th@efendants’ defense will be no different. Defendants do not
respond to this assertion. A 8§ 1981 claimught by and through § 1983 is “restricted by the
doctrines limiting § 1983 claim$® Generally, there must be a custom or policy by the
municipality that inflicted the injur§* Neither party has addressibeé restrictions § 1983 would
impose on Plaintiff's § 1981 claim as the claim was not pled in this manner. The Court will not
speculate as to how it would iagt Plaintiff's 8 1981 claim, omgy defenses, other than to state
the scope of trial would potentially change. Rartnore, trial is scheduled in three months, and
discovery has long closed.

In sum, Plaintiff does not demonstrate thanifest injustice will result if he is not
allowed to amend the Pretrial Order. Thus,G@loert denies Plaintiff sequest. Plaintiff failed
to bring his 8§ 1981 claim by and through § 198&fendants are entitled to summary judgment
on this claim.

D. Section 1983 Procedural and Substantive Due Process Claims (Counts 1V, V)

80Bolden 441 F.3d at 1135.
81d. (citing Monell v. Dep't of Soc. Servs. of New Y,@&6 U.S. 658, 694 (1978)).
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Plaintiff’s final two claims arise under 42S.C. § 1983. He claims that Defendants
violated his procedural and stistive due process rights. Deflants argue that these claims
are barred by the two-yeatatute of limitations.

Generally, the statute of limitationsrfolaims brought under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 are
governed by the personal injury statutes forstiaée in which the federal district court $itsin
Kansas, the statute of limitations perfod personal injury actions is two yedfs. While state
law provides the statute of limitations period, fiediéaw determines the date on which the claim
accrues and the statute begins to¥ui § 1983 claim accrues “when the plaintiff knows or has
reason to know of the injury vidh is the basis of the actiof®”

Here, every act complained about by Piéfiaiccurred on or before June 25, 2015.
Plaintiff filed suit on November 6, 2017. Thusaipltiff’'s § 1983 procedural and substantive due
process claims are untimely and barred by the statute of limitatkmtrdingly, the Court
grants Defendants summary judgnt on these two claims.

E. Conclusion

In sum, the Court finds that there are genusseaes of materidact with regard to
Plaintiff's hostile work environment claim andaéation claim based on a complaint of racial
discrimination. Defendants failed to ask ssrmmary judgment on Plaintiff’'s discriminatory

termination claim, so that claim remains as wéllaintiff's discretadiscrimination claims are

82Mondragon v. Thompseb19 F.3d 1078, 1082 (10th Cir. 2008) (citiijson v. Garcia471 U.S. 261,
269 (1985))Graham v. Taylar640 F. App’x 766, 768 (10th Cir. 2016). As noted above, there is a difference
between a claim (and the statute of limitations) brought under § 1983 and a §1981 claim brought by and through §
1983.

83K.S.A. § 60-513(a)(4).

84Mondragon 519 F.3d at 1082 (citing/allace v. Katp549 U.S. 384 (2007)5raham 640 F. App’x at
768-69.

85Baker v. Bd. of Regent891 F.2d 628, 632 (10th Cir. 1993) (citations omitted).
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time-barred, and Defendants are granted summdgment on these claims. To the extent
Plaintiff brought a worker’s compensation retatia claim, Defendants are entitled to summary
judgment, and this claim is dismissed. Defants are also gragtsummary judgment on
Plaintiff's § 1981 raciatliscrimination claim. Finally, Platiff's § 1983 claims of substantive
and procedural due process arsnlssed because they are babrgdhe statute of limitations.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COURT that Defendants’ Motion for
Summary Judgment (Doc. 95)gsanted in part and denied in part

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Plaintiff's Motion toAmend Pretrial Order (Doc.
128) isdenied

IT IS SO ORDERED.

Dated: March 20, 2020

S/ Julie A. Robinson
JULIE A. ROBINSON
CHIEF UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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